### UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-21-2011

### Garrett v. Garrett Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38971

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents the Court with an opportunity to clarify the interplay between Titles 32 and 55, Idaho Code, and the parol evidence rule. The first question presented to the Court today is whether the District Court erred by relying on any and all circumstantial and contextual evidence to reach a finding that a grantor had an undisclosed, subjective intent to transmute his separate interest in real property into community property when he executed a quitclaim deed from himself, Alva L Garrett, to grantees "Alva L Garrett and Thelma V Garrett" and, if so, whether clear and convincing evidence exists to support the District Court's findings.

This case also presents the Court with an opportunity to affirm the long-standing presumption that a duly recorded deed is valid and to confirm that delivery of a deed to a third-party during the lifetime of the grantor with instructions to record the deed after the grantor's death is validly delivered. The second issue before the Court today is whether the District Court erred when it placed the burden of proof regarding valid delivery on the record title-holder.

### **II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

- A. Whether the District Court applied an incorrect legal standard when it concluded that any and all extrinsic evidence of a grantor's intent is admissible to establish transmutation of a husband's separate interest in real property into community property.
- B. Whether substantial and competent evidence supports the District Court's finding that a wife proved by clear and convincing evidence that a grantor transmuted his separate interest in real property into community property.

- C. Whether the District Court erred by improperly placing the burdens of proof and production of evidence of valid delivery upon the holder of record title pursuant to a duly recorded deed.
- D. Whether substantial and competent evidence supports the District Court's conclusion that delivery was not effective when a grantor placed a deed in the hands of a third party with instructions to record the deed after the grantor's death.

### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Alva Garrett (Alva) and Thelma Garrett (Thelma) were married in 1976. R. Vol. II, p. 241. Each brought separate real property to the marriage; Alva's separate property included his eighty-acres located outside of Middleton, Idaho (the Middleton Place). R. Vol. II, p. 243. Until Alva passed away in 2008, Alva and Thelma lived together on the Middleton Place. R. Vol. II, p. 243.

During their marriage both Alva and Thelma engaged in various transactions regarding their separate real property. R. Vol. II, pp. 242-45. Alva took out two mortgages on the Middleton Place, one in 1977 and one in 1980; however, by 1990 he was unable to make the payments on these mortgages and was threatened with foreclosure. R. Vol. II, p. 245. In order to pay off his debts, Alva sold fifty-three acres of the Middleton Place, leaving him with 26 2/3 acres. R. Vol. II, p. 245. Shortly after the sale, Alva executed a Quitclaim deed from "Alva L Garrett" to "Alva L Garrett and Thelma V Garrett" (the 1990 Quitclaim Deed). R. Vol. II, p. 247; Def.'s Ex. A. The following day, Alva and Thelma executed a mortgage for \$20,000.00, pledging the Middleton Place as collateral. Def.'s Ex. KK.

That same year, Alva's son Jack Garrett (Jack) began leasing the farmland on the Middleton Place. R. Vol. II, p. 250. Jack continued to farm the land throughout his father's life.

R. Vol. II, p. 250. On February 14, 2006, Alva executed a Quitclaim Deed from "Alva L Garrett, a married man, his interest on this date" to "Jack L. Garrett" (the 2006 Quitclaim Deed). Def.'s Ex. CC. Alva gave this deed to his other son, John Garrett (John), and instructed him not to record the deed until after Alva's death. R. Vol. II, p. 251. Jack knew of the 2006 Quitclaim Deed prior to Alva's death. R. Vol. II, p. 252. Shortly after Alva's death, and in accordance with Alva's instructions, John recorded the 2006 quitclaim deed. R. Vol. II, p. 253.

On August 21, 2009, Jack filed a claim for partition of the Middleton Place. R. Vol. I, pp. 6-10. Thelma answered, and the following spring—shortly after this Court announced its decision in *Barrett v. Barrett*, 149 Idaho 21, 232 P.3d 799 (2010)—both Jack and Thelma moved for summary judgment. R. Vol. I, pp. 11-50, pp. 56-58, pp. 148-50. Jack argued that the 1990 Quitclaim Deed created a tenancy in common in Alva and Thelma and that parol evidence could not be considered for purposes of altering the clear and unambiguous language of the 1990 Quitclaim Deed. R. Vol. I, pp. 69-72. Thelma argued that the 1990 Quitclaim Deed created a tenance in court could consider "all relevant evidence" for purposes of discovering Alva's undisclosed, subjective intent to transmute the property when he executed the 1990 Quitclaim Deed. R. Vol. II, pp. 191-94

The District Court determined that the 1990 Quitclaim Deed was

[N]ot ambiguous at all regarding the property conveyed, the fact that it was conveyed, who it went to, the description, et cetera. But regarding the issue of intent of Alva as to classification, whether it's to the community or to the parties themselves, that is ambiguous. And because it's an alleged change in the status of the property from separate, which it was before, to community, that ambiguity requires we take evidence regarding intent...

Tr. p. 103, L. 3-13. The Court then determined that <u>all</u> parol evidence regarding Alva's intent would be admissible at trial to determine whether the 1990 Quitclaim Deed changed the character of the Middleton Place from separate to community property. Tr. p. 104, L. 6-9.

The case then proceeded to trial on the issues of whether Alva intended to transmute his separate property interest in the Middleton Place into community property when he executed the 1990 Quitclaim Deed and, if not, whether the 2006 Quitclaim deed was a valid conveyance of Alva's interest in the Middleton Place to Jack. R. Vol. II, p. 240. After trial, the District Court determined that the 1990 Quitclaim Deed created a community property interest in the Middleton Place and, alternatively, that the 2006 Quitclaim Deed was not validly delivered during Alva's lifetime. R. Vol. II, p. 261. It then entered an order quieting title in the Middleton Place to Thelma. R. Vol. II, p. 261. Jack now appeals both parts of this decision. R. Vol. II, pp. 266-71.

### IV. ARGUMENT

This Court is presented with two issues today. First, the Court must determine whether the 1990 Quitclaim Deed, which identified "Alva Garrett" as the grantor and "Alva Garrett and Thelma Garrett" as the grantee(s), satisfied the strict statutory formalities required for transmuting a separate interest in real property into community property when it is undisputed that the Middleton Place was Alva's separate property at the time the 1990 Quitclaim Deed was executed. Because the deed does not satisfy the strict statutory formalities and because the District Court based its findings and conclusions on legally irrelevant evidence, this Court should reverse the decision below and hold that, in accordance with Title 55, Idaho Code, the 1990 Quitclaim Deed created a tenancy in common between Alva and Thelma.

Next, the Court must determine whether the 2006 Quitclaim Deed from Alva to Jack was validly delivered when Alva gave the 2006 Quitclaim Deed to John to hold in escrow until Alva's death. Idaho law places the burden on the party challenging the validity of a duly recorded deed to produce clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence that the deed is invalid. In finding that there was no evidence of a valid delivery, the District Court improperly placed the

burden of proof on Jack to produce direct evidence of present intent to convey. However, under the correct standard, Thelma was required to produce clear and convincing evidence of no present intent to convey. Because Thelma failed to meet her burden of proving no present intent to convey, this Court should reverse the decision below and hold that Alva validly conveyed his separate property interest in the Middleton Place to Jack.

### A. The 1990 Quitclaim Deed created a tenancy in common between Alva and Thelma.

Title 55, Idaho Code, establishes that the 1990 Quitclaim Deed created a tenancy in common between Alva and Thelma. In order to avoid this statutorily mandated conclusion, the District Court improperly considered legally irrelevant evidence regarding Alva's undisclosed subjective intent and ultimately concluded that Alva intended to transmute his separate interest in real property to community property when he executed the 1990 Quitclaim Deed. R. Vol. II, p. 257, ¶ 13. Because transmutation of real property may be accomplished only by complying with strict statutory formalities, the District Court's consideration of **any and all** extrinsic evidence and the legal conclusions resulting from such evidence are in error. Therefore, this Court should reverse the lower court and hold, as a matter of law, that the 1990 Quitclaim Deed gave Thelma a separate property interest in the Middleton Place.

## 1. Transmutation of real property must comply with strict statutory formalities.

The District Court improperly relied on the concept of transmutation to avoid the legal conclusions mandated by Title 55, Idaho Code. Transmutation is "a broad term used to describe arrangements between spouses which change the character of property from separate to community and vice versa." *Stockdale v. Stockdale*, 102 Idaho 870, 872, 643 P.2d 82, 84 (1982) (quoting W. Reppy & W. DeFuniak, *Community Property in the United States* 421 (1975)). Idaho law recognizes both formal and informal transmutation. While spouses may informally,

orally, or even accidentally transmute personal property, Idaho law provides that "the separate or community character of **real property** may be altered only in the manner provided or permitted by statute." *Id.* at 873, 643 P.2d at 85 (emphasis added). *See also* Idaho Code §§ 32-916 & 32-917; *Reed v. Reed*, 137 Idaho 53, 59, 44 P.3d 1108, 1114 (2002) (citing *Wolford v. Wolford*, 117 Idaho 61, 66, 785 P.2d 625, 630 (1990)); *Jemmett v. McDonald*, 136 Idaho 277, 278 n.1 32 P.3d 669, 670 n.1 (2001) (noting that real property transmutations must adhere to the strict statutory requirements); *In re Estate of Keevan*, 110 Idaho 452, 461, 716 P.2d 1224, 1233 (1986) ("Idaho law does not recognize the transmutation of real property by oral agreement."); *Griffin v. Griffin*, 102 Idaho 858, 862, 642 P.2d 949, 953 (Ct. App. 1982) ("Idaho law does not recognize transmutation of real property by oral agreement.").

Idaho Code § 32-917 sets forth the requirements for transmuting real property. It provides that character of real property can be changed only by (i) a contract; (ii) in writing; (iii) being executed and acknowledged with proper formalities. Additionally, the party alleging that the character of real property has changed bears the burden of proving transmutation by clear and convincing evidence. *Reed*, 137 Idaho at 59, 44 P.3d at 1114 (citing *Wolford*, 117 Idaho at 66, 785 P.2d at 630); *Barrett v. Barrett*, 149 Idaho 21, 24, 232 P.3d 799, 802 (2010) (quoting *Hoskinson*, 139 Idaho at 459, 80 P.3d at 1060 (quoting *Ustick*, 104 Idaho at 222, 657 P.2d at 1090))).

"When a trial court finds facts that must be established by clear and convincing evidence, the question on appeal remains whether the findings are supported by substantial and competent evidence." *In re Ashe*, 114 Idaho 70, 77, 753 P.2d 281, 287 (1988). "Clear and convincing evidence is generally understood to be '[e]vidence indicating that the thing to be proved is highly probable or reasonably certain." *In re Doe*, 143 Idaho 188, 191, 141 P.3d 1057, 1060 (2006)

(citing *Black's Law Dictionary* 577 (7th ed. 1999)). "Substantial and competent evidence is 'such evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id.* (quoting *Folks v. Moscow Sch. Dist. No. 281*, 129 Idaho 833, 836, 933 P.2d 642, 645 (1997)). "Obviously, the substantial evidence test requires a greater quantum of evidence in cases where the trial court finding must be supported by clear and convincing evidence, than in cases where a mere preponderance is required." *Id.* (quoting *Folks v. Moscow Sch. Dist. No. 281*, 129 Idaho 833, 836, 933 P.2d 642, 645 (1997)).

2. The party alleging that the character of real property has changed may prove compliance with these strict statutory formalities by presenting a written document expressly evidencing the intent to create a community property interest or by demonstrating that an interest in real property was acquired as community property.

Thelma and the District Court relied on the 1990 Quitclaim Deed to support the conclusion that Alva transmuted his separate property interest in the Middleton Place into community property.<sup>1</sup> This written deed was silent regarding Alva's intent to transmute his separate property interest in the Middleton Place into community property. Because the 1990 Quitclaim Deed was silent on this point, the District Court found that it was ambiguous and relied on extrinsic evidence to resolve the perceived ambiguity. In so doing, the District Court erred by considering legally irrelevant extrinsic evidence and, further, by relying on an insufficient quantum of evidence, to determine that the written deed changed the character of separate real property to community property.

## a. Thelma failed to produce a writing expressly stating Alva's intent to convert his separate property interest in the Middleton Place into community property.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Several decisions of this Court impliedly hold that a written deed may satisfy these statutory formalities. *See, e.g., Reed*, 137 Idaho at 59, 44 P.3d at 1114.

Title 55, Idaho Code, governs the interpretation of deeds. Nothing contained within Title 32, Idaho Code, suggests a separate set of rules for interpreting deeds executed by and between spouses. Accordingly, interpretation of the 1990 Quitclaim Deed must begin with Title 55, Idaho Code. Idaho Code § 55-508 provides as follows:

# Every interest in real estate granted or devised to two (2) or more persons ... constitutes a tenancy in common, <u>unless expressly</u> <u>declared in the grant or devise to be otherwise</u>.

(emphasis added). Consistent with this statutory mandate, this Court has long and consistently held that a deed that is clear and unambiguous on its face cannot be challenged with extrinsic evidence to show the intent of the parties. *Howard v. Perry*, 141 Idaho 139, 141-42, 106 P.3d 465, 467-68 (2005) (citing *Kimbrough v. Reed*, 130 Idaho 512, 515, 943 P.2d 1232, 1235 (1997)); *Rowan v. Riley*, 139 Idaho 49, 54, 72 P.3d 889, 894 (2003) (citing *Simons v. Simons*, 134 Idaho 824, 827, 11 P.3d 20, 23 (2000)); *Hall v. Hall*, 116 Idaho 483, 484, 777 P.2d 255, 256 (1989). As per these statutory requirements, the intent of the parties must be determined from the deed itself. *Rowan*, 139 Idaho at 54, 72 P.3d at 894 (citing *Simons v. Simons*, 134 Idaho 824, 827, 11 P.3d 20, 23 (2000)).

The 1990 Quitclaim Deed conveys the Middleton Place from "Alva L Garrett" to "Alva L Garrett and Thelma V Garrett[.]" Def.'s Ex. A. The deed does not expressly declare that the conveyance constitutes anything other than a tenancy in common. Indeed, because the deed does not expressly state that Alva and Thelma were married, the District Court erroneously relied on extrinsic evidence—evidence that Alva and Thelma were married at the time the deed was executed—to reach the conclusion that the deed was ambiguous. A stranger to the deed would not know if Alva and Thelma were parent and child, brother and sister. cousins, or even two unrelated persons. Accordingly, under Idaho Code § 55-508, the face of the unambiguous 1990

Quitclaim Deed leads to the statutorily mandated conclusion that Thelma and Alva held their interest in the Middleton Place as tenants in common.

# b. The District Court erred by considering legally irrelevant evidence in reaching the conclusion that Thelma's interest in the Middleton Place was acquired as community property.

Even though Title 55 mandates that Thelma and Alva held their respective interest as tenants in common, the District Court relied on this Court's decision in *Barrett v. Barrett*, to allow any and all extrinsic evidence, regardless of its legal relevance, to reach its determination that Alva intended to create a community interest in the Middleton Place. While *Barrett* stands for the proposition that a narrow category of relevant extrinsic evidence may be considered to alter an otherwise unambiguous conveyance between spouses, the District Court erred by holding that any and all evidence was relevant to alter an unambiguous conveyance between spouses.

### i. Idaho Code § 55-104 permits a narrow inquiry into relevant extrinsic evidence regarding the source of funds used to acquire an interest in property for purposes of determining if it was acquired as community property.

Idaho Code § 55-104 provides that the tenancy in common mandate of Section 55-508

can be overcome if the property was acquired as community property:

Every interest created in favor of several persons in their own right is an interest in common ... unless <u>acquired as community</u> <u>property</u>.

I.C. § 55-104 (emphasis added). Title 32, Idaho Code, governs whether an interest in property

was acquired as community property or separate property. Idaho Code § 32-903 provides:

All property of either the husband or the wife owned by him or her before marriage, and that acquired afterward by either by gift, bequest, devise or descent, or that which either he or she shall acquire with the proceeds of his or her separate property, by way of moneys or other property, shall remain his or her sole and separate property. Idaho Code § 32-906(2) gives rise to the presumption that a conveyance between spouses creates a separate property interest in the grantee.

Property conveyed by one spouse to the other shall be presumed to be the sole and separate estate of the grantee and only the grantor spouse need execute and acknowledge the deed or other instrument of conveyance notwithstanding the provisions of section 32-912, Idaho Code.

Property acquired during marriage that does not fall within these statutory definitions is presumptively community property. When he executed the 1990 Quitclaim Deed, Alva retained a portion of his separate property interest and conveyed a portion of his separate property interest in the Middleton Place to Thelma; therefore, the property interest conveyed to Thelma is presumed to be her sole and separate property.

### ii. This Court has developed a list of six relevant factors for purposes of determining the character of an interest in real property acquired during marriage with credit.

This Court has long held that extrinsic evidence may be considered for purposes of determining whether an interest in property was acquired as community or separate property. Pursuant to Idaho Code § 32-903, the only two elements properly considered in characterizing property as community or separate are (1) when the property was acquired (timing) and (2) what funds were used to acquire such property (funding). *Accord Kraley v. Kraley*, 147 Idaho 299, 303, 208 P.3d 281, 285 (2009).

In *Winn v. Winn*, this Court recognized that a lending institution might prepare a deed during a financing transaction that does not accurately reflect the character of an interest in property. 105 Idaho 811, 673 P.2d 411 (1983). Accordingly, this Court held that the character of an interest in real property acquired through a credit acquisition was amenable to the timing

and funding analysis of Idaho Code § 32-903 and, further, that relevant extrinsic evidence could be used to conduct this inquiry. *Id.* at 814-15, 673 P.2d at 414-15.

In identifying the extrinsic evidence relevant to the Section 32-903 inquiry, the Court noted the long-standing and well-established principle that "the character of an item of property as community or separate vests at the time of acquisition." *Id.* at 814, 673 P.2d at 414 (citing *In re Freeburn*, 97 Idaho 845, 555 P.2d 385 (1976)). The Court then determined that property acquired with credit takes on the character of the loan proceeds used to acquire the property. *Id.* The loan proceeds have the same character as the property that was the source of security for the loan or, if unsecured, the character of the estate that was the basis for extending the credit. *Id.* at 814-15, 673 at 414-15. Relying on a long line of Idaho authority, this Court identified several factors relevant to this inquiry. *Id.* A studied review of the authority relied on by the *Winn* Court demonstrates that each factor plays a specific role in the timing and funding analysis of Idaho Code § 32-903. The application of each factor differs within the individual circumstances of each case, but the application is always anchored to the timing and funding elements of Idaho Code § 32-903.

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