Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-9-2012

Garrett v. Garrett Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38971

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURT'S FINDING THAT THE 1990 DEED TRANSMUTED ALVA'S SEPARATE PROPERTY INTO THE COMMUNITY PROPERTY OF ALVA AND THELMA WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE
 - A. The District Court's findings are entitled to great weight on appeal.

This is an appeal from a bench trial. The trial court found that the Defendant, Thelma Garrett, proved by clear and convincing evidence that in executing a June, 1990 deed, Thelma's husband, Alva Garrett, transmuted his separate property into their community property. The Court also found that Alva's February, 2006 quitclaim deed to his son, Plaintiff Jack Garrett, was void because Thelma did not participate in or consent to the community property conveyance, and void also because it was not delivered, since Alva did not intend to divest himself of present ownership interest when he executed the quitclaim deed.

In Sirius LC v. Erickson, 150 Idaho 80, 84, 244 P.3d 224, 228 (2010), the Court noted:

When reviewing a judgment of the district court following a bench trial, this Court is "limited to ascertaining whether the evidence supports the findings of fact, and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law." *Borah v. McCandless*, 147 Idaho 73, 77, 205 P.3d 1209, 1213 (2009). Findings of fact will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous, *see* Idaho R. Civ. P. 52(a); "however, we exercise free review over issues of law." *American Pension Services, Inc. v. Cornerstone Home Builders, L.L.C.*, 147 Idaho 638, 641, 213 P.3d 1038, 1041 (2009).

This Court does not reweigh the evidence and defers to the trial court with respect to its judgment of the credibility of the witnesses. As set out in *Opportunity, LLC v. Ossewarde*, 136 Idaho 602, 605, 38 P.3d 1258, 1261 (Idaho 2002):

The standard of review of a non-jury trial court's findings of fact is set forth in Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a). *Williamson v. City of McCall*, 135 Idaho 452, 19 P.3d 766, , 769 (citing I.R.C.P. 52(a)). I.R.C.P. 52(a) provides in pertinent part:

In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury ... the court shall find the facts specifically and state separately its conclusions of law thereon and direct the entry of the appropriate judgment. Findings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous. In application of this principle regard shall be given to the special opportunity of the trial

court to judge the credibility of those witnesses that appear before it. *Id.* (quoting I.R.C.P. 52(a)). "In determining whether a finding is clearly erroneous this Court does not weigh the evidence as the district court did. The Court inquires whether the findings of fact are supported by substantial and competent evidence." *Id.* (citation omitted). "This Court will not substitute its view of the facts for the view of the district judge." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Evidence is regarded as substantial if a reasonable trier of fact would accept it and rely upon it in determining whether a disputed point of fact had been proven." *Id.*

The trial court concluded that Thelma proved that transmutation of the real property occurred, and that the quitclaim deed to Jack was not delivered by clear and convincing evidence. The court's finding is entitled to great weight on appeal. In *Barrett v. Barrett*, 149 Idaho 21, 24, 232 P.3d 799, 802 (2010), this Court declared:

Concomitantly, because the question of whether a "clear and convincing" burden of proof has been met is a question for the trier of facts to decide in the first instance, the determination of the trial judge-that a claim was not shown by clear and convincing evidence-is entitled to great weight on appeal. *Hoskinson*, 139 Idaho at 459, 80 P.3d at 1060 (quoting *Ustick*, 104 Idaho at 222, 657 P.2d at 1090).

Moreover, as this court recently noted in *Harris, Inc. v. Foxhollow Const. & Trucking, Inc.*, 264 P.3d 400, 407 (August, 2011):

We will not disturb findings supported by substantial and competent evidence, "even if the evidence is conflicting." [Independence Lead Mines v. Hecla Mining Co., 143 Idaho 22, 26, 137 P.3d 409, 413 (2006)] "It is the province of the district court to weigh conflicting evidence and testimony and to judge the credibility of the witnesses." Thorn Springs Ranch, Inc. v. Smith, 137 Idaho 480, 484, 50 P.3d 975, 979 (2002). We, therefore, liberally construe a trial court's findings "in favor of the judgment entered." Id.

Substantial and competent evidence is relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion. *Uhl v. Ballard Med. Prods., Inc.,* 138 Idaho 653, 657, 67 P.3d 1265, 1269 (2003). "This Court will not substitute its view of the facts for the view of the district judge." *In re Williamson,* 135 Idaho 452, 454, 19 P.3d 766, 768 (2001) (citing *Carney v. Heinson,* 133 Idaho 275, 281, 985 P.2d 1137, 1143 (1999). "Evidence is regarded as substantial if a reasonable trier of fact would accept it and rely upon it in determining whether a disputed point of fact had been proven." *Id.*

B. The Court looks to the intent of the parties to determine whether a deed results in transmutation.

In interpreting and construing deeds of conveyance, the primary goal is to seek and give effect to the real intention of the parties. *Neider v. Shaw*, 138 Idaho 503, 65 P.3d 525 (2003); *C* & *G, Inc. v. Rule*, 135 Idaho 763, 25 P.3d 76 (2001); *Benninger v. Derifield*, 142 Idaho 486, 489, 129 P.3d 1235, 1238 (2006) As this Court declared in *Barrett v. Barrett*, 149 Idaho 21, 23, 232 P.3d 799, 801 (2010):

The determination whether property has been transmuted, from separate to community property or vice versa, is, as we have long stated, a question of intent. *Hoskinson v. Hoskinson*, 139 Idaho 448, 459, 80 P.3d 1049, 1060 (2003); *Suchan v. Suchan*, 106 Idaho 654, 664, 682 P.2d 607, 617 (1984); *In re Bogert's Estate*, 96 Idaho 522, 526, 531 P.2d 1167, 1171 (1975); *see also Ustick v. Ustick*, 104 Idaho 215, 222, 657 P.2d 1083, 1090 (Ct. App. 1983); *Griffin v. Griffin*, 102 Idaho 858, 861, 642 P.2d 949, 952 (Ct. App. 1982).

C. The District Court properly considered all relevant evidence in order to determine Alva's intent to transmute his separate property into community property.

Jack Garrett's claim that the only evidence the trial court was allowed to consider was the language of the deed itself is not supported by Idaho law. This Court's decision in *Barrett, supra,* states that even where the deed in question is unambiguous, its language is still not dispositive on the issue of the character of the property, and the court may consider all other relevant evidence to ascertain the true intent of the parties. In *Barrett,* the magistrate judge determined that the deed in question was unambiguous. Notwithstanding that finding, the Supreme Court held that the language in the deed was not dispositive on the issue of transmutation, and the court could consider other evidence to determine the grantor's intent to transmute the property. *Barrett, supra,* at 24, 232 P.3d at 802. The Court noted:

"...the language of a deed executed in the course of refinancing does not conclusively determine the character of property for purposes of a divorce action. Rather, the intention of the party or parties executing the deed is dispositive. Thus, neither I.C. §55-606 nor

the statute of frauds governs because the pertinent question is not the effectiveness of the deed. Although the trial judge, as the finder of fact, may consider a deed as evidence in determining intent, it is not the only evidence available to a judge considering the question of transmutation.

This Court has previously allowed courts to look to a variety of factors in determining the character of property. In *Hoskinson* while recognizing that marriage settlement contracts require formalities, the Court felt free to look to additional testimony to ascertain the intent of the parties. 139 Idaho at 459-60, 80 P.2d at 1060-61. Similarly, in *Winn v. Winn*, 105 Idaho 811, 673 P.2d 411 (1983), involving a property purchase concluded some months after the marriage using separate property of the husband, the Court considered a variety of factors to be considered in the absence of the parties' "actual, articulated intent": (1) whether the community was liable for payment on the loan; (2) the source of the payments toward the loan; (3) the basis of credit upon which the lender relied in making the loan; (4) the nature of the down payment; (5) the names on the deed; and (6) who signed the documents of indebtedness. *Id.* at 814-15, 673 P.2d at 414-15. This Court explained:

[t]he presence or absence of any or all of the above listed factors is relevant in determining the character of the credit by which a loan is obtained. None is conclusive. We deliberately refrain from selecting one item as dispositive. Such an approach is too rigid in light of our ultimate purpose of determining the likely intent of the spouses and in consideration of the highly individualistic and often complex fact situations presented.

Id. at 815, 673 P.2d at 415. The fact that Winn involved the purchase of new property rather than the question of whether existing property was transmuted does not change the analysis here. Winn was clear in its holding that evidence beyond the deed itself could be

introduced to determine the character of property even where that determination might

The Court concluded by declaring that:

differ from the language of the deed.

...the determination whether property has been transmuted is a question of fact turning on intent. In making this factual determination, trial courts are free to consider all relevant evidence regarding that intent. *Barrett, supra*, at 25, 232 P.3d at 803.

1. The Deed from "Alva" to "Alva and Thelma" was ambiguous and therefore parol evidence was admissible to establish the parties' intent.

The District Court found that the June 18, 1990 deed from Alva L. Garrett to Alva L. Garrett and Thelma V. Garrett was ambiguous because it did not specify how Alva and Thelma held title, and because they refinanced the property at the same time that this deed was executed. In light of that ambiguity, the Court considered additional relevant evidence on the issue of the parties' intent to determine the character of the property.

In Benninger, supra, at 489, 129 P.3d at 1238, the Court noted that:

If, however, the instrument of conveyance is ambiguous, interpretation of the instrument is a matter of fact for the trier of fact." *Latham v. Garner*, 105 Idaho 854, 673 P.2d 1048 (1983)....Uncertainties should be treated as ambiguities; such ambiguities are subject to be cleared up by resort to the intention of the parties as gathered from the deed, from the circumstances attending and leading up to its execution, from the subject matter, and from the situation of the parties at the time. *City of Kellogg v. Mission Mountain Interests*, 135 Idaho 239, 16 P.3d 915 (2000).

As this Court held in Sells v. Robinson, 141 Idaho 767, 773, 118 P.3d 99, 105 (2005):

If a deed is ambiguous, parol evidence is admissible to prove the parties' intent. In construing an ambiguous deed, the Court should give effect to the parties' intentions. *Daugharty v. Post Falls Highway Dist.* 134 Idaho 731, 735, 9 P.3d 534, 538 (2000). To give effect to the intent of the parties, "the contract or other writing must be viewed as a whole and in its entirety." *Id.* The Court must consider all of the surrounding facts and circumstances. *Bumgarner v. Bumgarner*, 124 Idaho 629, 637, 862 P.2d 321, 329 (Ct. App. 1993)

Accord, McCoy v. McCoy, 125 Idaho 199, 204, 868 P.2d 527, 532 (1994) ("... where the deed's language is ambiguous, parol or extrinsic evidence describing the surrounding facts and circumstances is admissible to prove the parties' intent. *Id.* In such a case, the interpretation of intent is a question of fact to be determined by the trier of fact, not only from the instrument itself but also from extrinsic evidence. *Phillips*, 121 Idaho at 697, 827 P.2d at 710.")

2. Since the deed from Alva to Alva and Thelma was executed in connection with refinancing of their farm property, the trial court was entitled to consider parol or extrinsic evidence to determine their intent.

This Court in *Barrett, supra, at 24,* 232 P.3d at 802, stated expressly that the language of a deed executed in the course of refinancing is not dispositive on the character of the property even if it is unambiguous, and additional evidence of intent may be considered by the court. Although Jack Garrett asserts that financing was not related to this deed because it occurred after the deed was executed (Appellant's Brief, p. 15), the transactions actually took place within a day of each other. The deed was dated June 18, 1990 and the mortgage dated June 19, 1990. Tr. p. 164, line 7 – p. 167, line 12. Thelma testified that the new mortgage was taken out jointly by

Alva and Thelma to pay off an earlier mortgage following sale of the other 53 acres attached to this farm property. Tr. p. 217, line 19 - p. 222, line 2. There was substantial competent evidence on which the trial court could conclude that the deed was executed in connection with refinancing of the property. R. Vol. II, p. 245 – 247, Findings #9.5, 9.6, 12.4, 12.5.

Contrary to Jack Garrett's argument, the trial court was not limited to consideration of the six factors listed in *Winn v. Winn*, 105 Idaho 811, 673 P.2d 411 (1983) to ascertain the parties' intent. In *Barrett*, that list was cited as merely instructive on the types of evidence that have been considered by courts in the past, but the Court eschewed a narrow delineation of those factors as exclusive in every case, quoting with approval the language in the *Winn* decision that the determination of the parties' intent is "highly individualistic" and often involves "complex fact situations." The Appellant's view of this inquiry is overly simplistic, formulaic, and not in line with Idaho case law or with the ultimate goal – to determine the parties' actual intent.

3. The court considered the applicable *Winn* factors in finding that Alva intended to transmute his property.

The Appellant contends that Alva's deed was executed as a gift to Thelma. But the evidence showed, and the court properly found that the property was refinanced and a mortgage executed one day after and in connection with the execution of that deed. The mortgagors were identified as "Alva L. Garrett and Thelma V. Garrett, husband and wife." Tr. p. 165, line 14 – p. 166, line 4. Exhibit KK. The Court found that a community debt was created through the making of this mortgage by Alva and Thelma. R. Vol. II, p. 247, FF #12.5. That finding was supported by Thelma's testimony regarding the making of the mortgage and payments made on it from their joint checking account into which Thelma's Social Security checks were deposited. Tr. p. 161, line 13 – p. 167, line 12; p. 273, line 24 – p. 277, line 1.

Although the *Winn* Court listed six factors that it considered in determining whether transmutation occurred, it noted that no single factor was conclusive on the issue. The trial court here considered evidence consistent with the *Winn* factors that supported the Court's finding that transmutation had occurred. These included the following:

"(1) whether the community was liable for payment on the loan;"

Alva and Thelma were both signatories on the IDAVIV mortgage, Exhibit KK

"(2) the source of the payments toward the loan;"

Thelma testified that she received approximately twice the amount as Alva in Social Security payments, which constituted most of their joint income. She deposited her Social Security check into their joint checking account, and all payments on the IDAVIV mortgage were made out of that account. The account records show principal and interest payments made on the mortgage from that account. Tr. p. 273, line 24 – p. 277, line 1. Earlier, Thelma testified that she and Alva paid off this mortgage without any financial help from Alva's children. Tr. p. 166, line 25 – p. 167, line 12.

"(3) the basis of credit upon which the lender relied in making the loan;"

Thelma and Jack both testified that Alva was in financial difficulties in 1990 and facing potential foreclosure. Jack testified that his father was having difficulty making his loan payments. Tr. p. 139, line 1 – p. 140, line 8; Tr. p. 369, line 22 – p. 370, line 6. Thelma's Social Security income was almost double Alva's, and their joint income was used to make the payments on the new mortgage, which was executed within one day of Thelma being added to the title. The Court could reasonably infer from these facts that Thelma's income was a consideration of the lender in making the loan.

"(4) the nature of the down payment;"

There was no down payment since this was a refinance and not new acquisition.

"(5) the names on the deed;"

Both Alva and Thelma were named on the deed. Tr. p. 164, line 18-23, Exhibit A.

"(6) who signed the documents of indebtedness."

Both Alva and Thelma signed the mortgage. Tr. p. 165, line 14 – p. 166, line 24, Exhibit KK.

D. The court's finding that Alva transmuted his interest in the Middleton property was supported by substantial competent evidence that was not controverted by the Appellant.

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